
 

 

Agenda for a meeting of the Governance and Audit 
Committee to be held on Thursday, 24 March 2022 at 
10.30 am in the Ernest Saville Room, City Hall, Bradford 
 

 
Members of the Committee – Councillors 
 

LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE LIBERAL DEMOCRAT  

Tait 
Thornton 
Godwin 
 

Pollard 
 

Reid  
 

 
Alternates: 
 

LABOUR 
 

CONSERVATIVE  LIBERAL DEMOCRAT 

M Slater 
Azam 
T Hussain 

Felstead  J Sunderland 

Notes: 

 This agenda can be made available in Braille, large print or tape format on request by 
contacting the Agenda contact shown below. 

 The taking of photographs, filming and sound recording of the meeting is allowed except if 
Councillors vote to exclude the public to discuss confidential matters covered by Schedule 12A 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Recording activity should be respectful to the conduct of 
the meeting and behaviour that disrupts the meeting (such as oral commentary) will not be 
permitted. Anyone attending the meeting who wishes to record or film the meeting's 
proceedings is advised to liaise with the Agenda Contact who will provide guidance and ensure 
that any necessary arrangements are in place. Those present who are invited to make spoken 
contributions to the meeting should be aware that they may be filmed or sound recorded. 

 If any further information is required about any item on this agenda, please contact the officer 
named at the foot of that agenda item. 

 

From:      To: 
Parveen Akhtar 
City Solicitor 
Agenda Contact: Fatima Butt  
Phone: 01274 432227 
E-Mail: fatima.butt@bradford.gov.uk 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
A. PROCEDURAL ITEMS 
 
 
1.   ALTERNATE MEMBERS  (Standing Order 34) 

 
The City Solicitor will report the names of alternate Members who are 
attending the meeting in place of appointed Members.   
 

 

2.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 
 
(Members Code of Conduct - Part 4A of the Constitution) 
 
To receive disclosures of interests from members and co-opted 
members on matters to be considered at the meeting. The disclosure 
must include the nature of the interest. 
 
An interest must also be disclosed in the meeting when it becomes 
apparent to the member during the meeting. 
 
Notes: 
 
(1) Members may remain in the meeting and take part fully in 

discussion and voting unless the interest is a disclosable 
pecuniary interest or an interest which the Member feels would 
call into question their compliance with the wider principles set 
out in the Code of Conduct.  Disclosable pecuniary interests 
relate to the Member concerned or their spouse/partner. 

 
(2) Members in arrears of Council Tax by more than two months 

must not vote in decisions on, or which might affect, budget 
calculations, and must disclose at the meeting that this 
restriction applies to them.  A failure to comply with these 
requirements is a criminal offence under section 106 of the 
Local Government Finance Act 1992.   

 
(3) Members are also welcome to disclose interests which are not 

disclosable pecuniary interests but which they consider should 
be made in the interest of clarity. 

 
(4) Officers must disclose interests in accordance with Council 

Standing Order 44. 
 

 

3.   MINUTES 
 
Recommended – 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 27 January 2022 be 
signed as a correct record (previously circulated). 
 

(Fatima Butt – 01274 432227) 
 

 



 

 

4.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
(Access to Information Procedure Rules – Part 3B of the Constitution) 
 
Reports and background papers for agenda items may be inspected by 
contacting the person shown after each agenda item.  Certain reports 
and background papers may be restricted.   
 
Any request to remove the restriction on a report or background paper 
should be made to the relevant Strategic Director or Assistant Director 
whose name is shown on the front page of the report.   
 
If that request is refused, there is a right of appeal to this meeting.   
 
Please contact the officer shown below in advance of the meeting if 
you wish to appeal.   

(Fatima Butt - 01274 432227) 
 

 

B. BUSINESS ITEMS 
 
5.   TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2022-23 

 
The Director of Finance and IT will submit Document “Z” which 
reports on the Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23, the report 
covers two main areas: 
 
Capital issues 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential 
indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

Treasury management issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of 
the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 the policy on use of external service providers. 

 
Recommended –  
 
That Document “Z” be noted and referred to Council for adoption. 
 
     (David Willis – 01274 432361) 
     (Lynsey Simenton - 07582 102779) 

 



 

 

 
6.   MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) JOINT 

ADVISORY GROUP HELD ON 27 JANUARY 2022 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations requires the minutes of meetings 
of the WYPF be submitted to this Committee. 
 
In accordance with this requirement, the Director of West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund will submit “Document “AB which reports on the 
minutes of the meeting of the WYPF Joint Advisory Group held on 27 
January 2022.  
 
Recommended –  
 
That the minutes of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Joint 
Advisory Group held on 27 January 2022 be considered. 
 
    (Joanna Wilkinson – 01274 432038) 
 

 

7.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
Recommended – 
 
That the public be excluded from the meeting during the  
consideration of the items relating to minutes of the West 
Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment Advisory Panel meetings 
held on 27 January 2022 and 28 October 2021 because the 
information to be considered is exempt information within 
paragraph 3 (Financial or Business Affairs) of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  It is also considered that it is in the 
public interest to exclude public access to this item. 
 

 

8.   MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) 
INVESTMENT ADVISORY PANEL HELD ON 27 JANUARY 2022 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations requires the minutes of meetings 
of the WYPF be submitted to this Committee. 
 
In accordance with this requirement, the Director of West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund will submit Not for Publication Document “AC” which 
reports on the minutes of the meeting of the WYPF Investment 
Advisory Panel held on 27 January 2022.  
 
Recommended –  
 
That the minutes of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment 
Advisory Panel held on 27 January 2022 be considered. 
 
    (Joanna Wilkinson – 01274 432038) 
 
 
 

 



 

 

9.   MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) 
INVESTMENT ADVISORY PANEL HELD ON 28 OCTOBER 2021 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations requires the minutes of meetings 
of the WYPF be submitted to this Committee. 
 
In accordance with this requirement, the Director of West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund will submit Not for Publication Document “AD” which 
reports on the minutes of the meeting of the WYPF Investment 
Advisory Panel held on 28 October 2021.  
 
Recommended –  
 
That the minutes of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Investment 
Advisory Panel held on 28 October 2021 be considered. 
 
    (Joanna Wilkinson – 01274 432038) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 

1 
 

 
 
 
 
Report of the Director of Finance & IT to the 
meeting of the Governance and Audit Committee 
to be held on 24th March 2022 
 
 

           Z 
Subject:            
  
 

Treasury Management Strategy 2022-23 
 
 

Summary statement: 
 

This report shows the Council’s 2022-23 Treasury Strategy  
 
 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

  
Chris Chapman 
Director of Finance & IT 

Portfolio:   
Corporate  
 

Report Contact: David Willis 
Treasury Management Officer 
Phone: (01274) 43 2361  
E-mail: David.Willis@bradford.gov.uk 

Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
Corporate Services 

Page 1

Agenda Item 5/



2 
 

 

 
  

Page 2



3 
 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 

1.1 Background 
 
The Council is required to operate a balanced budget, which broadly means that cash 
raised during the year will meet cash expenditure. Part of the treasury management 
operation is to ensure that this cash flow is adequately planned, with cash being available 
when it is needed.  Surplus monies are invested in low-risk counterparties or instruments 
commensurate with the Council’s low risk appetite, providing adequate liquidity initially 
before considering investment return. 
 
The second main function of the treasury management service is the funding of the 
Council’s capital plans.  These capital plans provide a guide to the borrowing need of the 
Council, essentially the longer-term cash flow planning, to ensure that the Council can meet 
its capital spending obligations. This management of longer-term cash may involve 
arranging long or short-term loans or using longer-term cash flow surpluses. On occasion, 
when it is prudent and economic, any debt previously drawn may be restructured to meet 
Council risk or cost objectives.  
 
The contribution the treasury management function makes to the Council is critical, as the 
balance of debt and investment operations ensure liquidity or the ability to meet spending 
commitments as they fall due, either on day-to-day revenue or for larger capital projects.  
The treasury operations will see a balance of the interest costs of debt and the investment 
income arising from cash deposits affecting the available budget.  Since cash balances 
generally result from reserves and balances, it is paramount to ensure adequate security 
of the sums invested, as a loss of principal will in effect result in a loss to the General Fund 
Balance. 
 
CIPFA defines treasury management as: 

 
“The management of the local authority’s borrowing, investments and cash flows, its 
banking, money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks 
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent with 
those risks.” 

 
Whilst any commercial initiatives or loans to third parties will impact on the treasury function, 
these activities are generally classed as non-treasury activities, (arising usually from capital 
expenditure), and are separate from the day-to-day treasury management activities. 
 
1.2 Reporting requirements 
 
1.2.1 Capital Strategy 
 
The CIPFA 2017 Prudential and Treasury Management Codes require all local 
authorities to prepare a capital strategy report which will provide the following:  

 a high-level long-term overview of how capital expenditure, capital financing 
and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of services 

 an overview of how the associated risk is managed 

 the implications for future financial sustainability 
 
The aim of this capital strategy is to ensure that all elected members on the full council 
fully understand the overall long-term policy objectives and resulting capital strategy 
requirements, governance procedures and risk appetite. 
 
 

Page 3



4 
 

 

1.2.2 Treasury Management reporting 
 
The Council is currently required to receive and approve, as a minimum, three main 
treasury reports each year, which incorporate a variety of policies, estimates and 
actuals.   
 

a. Prudential and treasury indicators and treasury strategy (this report) - The 
first, and most important report is forward looking and covers: 

 the capital plans, (including prudential indicators); 

 a minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy, (how residual capital expenditure is 
charged to revenue over time); 

 the treasury management strategy, (how the investments and borrowings are to 
be organised), including treasury indicators; and  

 an investment strategy, (the parameters on how treasury investments are to be 
managed). 

 
b. A mid-year treasury management report – This is primarily a progress report 

and will update members on the capital position, amending prudential 
indicators as necessary, and whether any policies require revision.  
 

c. An annual treasury report – This is a backward-looking review document and 
provides details of a selection of actual prudential and treasury indicators and 
actual treasury operations compared to the estimates within the strategy. 

   
1.2.3 Scrutiny 
The above reports are required to be adequately scrutinised before being 
recommended to the Council.  This role is undertaken by the Governance and Audit 
Committee. 
 

1.3 Treasury Management Strategy for 2022-23 

The strategy for 2022-23 covers two main areas: 
 
Capital issues 

 the capital expenditure plans and the associated prudential indicators; 

 the minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy. 

 

Treasury management issues 

 the current treasury position; 

 treasury indicators which limit the treasury risk and activities of the Council; 

 prospects for interest rates; 

 the borrowing strategy; 

 policy on borrowing in advance of need; 

 debt rescheduling; 

 the investment strategy; 

 creditworthiness policy; and 

 the policy on use of external service providers. 

 

These elements cover the requirements of the Local Government Act 2003, DLUHC 
Investment Guidance, DLUHC MRP Guidance, the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA 
Treasury Management Code. 

Page 4



5 
 

 

 

1.4 Training 

The CIPFA Code requires the responsible officer to ensure that members with responsibility 
for treasury management receive adequate training in treasury management.  This 
especially applies to members responsible for scrutiny.  Training has been undertaken by 
members on the 25th November 2021 and further training will be arranged as required.   

 

The training needs of treasury management officers are periodically reviewed.  

1.5 Treasury management consultants 

The Council uses Link Group, Treasury solutions as its external treasury management 
advisors. 
 
The Council recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with 
the organisation at all times and will ensure that undue reliance is not placed upon the 
services of our external service providers. All decisions will be undertaken with regards to 
all available information, including, but not solely, our treasury advisers. 
 
It also recognises that there is value in employing external providers of treasury 
management services in order to acquire access to specialist skills and resources. The 
Council will ensure that the terms of their appointment and the methods by which their value 
will be assessed are properly agreed and documented, and subjected to regular review.  
 

1.6 Updates to the Prudential and Treasury Management Code 

The Council has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice for Treasury Management in the 
Public Services 2017. An updated version of this Code and Prudential Code was published 
in December 2021. Although the new Codes apply immediately, the Prudential Code states 
that the changes to reporting requirements that they introduce can be deferred until the 
2023-24 financial year.  Given the timing of the publication of the updated Codes it has not 
yet been possible to implement changes to the treasury management prudential indicators, 
however work will be undertaken with the aim of introducing them during 2022-23. 
 
Members will be updated on how all these changes will impact our current approach and 
any changes required will be formally adopted within the 2023-24 Treasury Management 
Strategy. 

Page 5



6 
 

 

2. CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL INDICATORS  

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

Prudential Indicators currently do not include anything relating to a Council HRA and 
they will be reviewed again once a decision has been made.  

2.1 Capital expenditure and financing 

This prudential indicator is a summary of the Council’s capital expenditure plans, both 
those agreed previously, and those forming part of this budget cycle.   

 
Table 1: Capital Plan Expenditure 

Capital 
expenditure 
 

2020-21 
Actual 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

Total 64 162 203 242 145 78 

 

Table 2 below summarises the above capital expenditure plans and how these plans 
are being financed by capital or revenue resources. Any shortfall of resources results 
in a funding borrowing need.  

Table 2: Capital funding 

  

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Actual  Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Total Capital Spend 64 162 203 242 145 78 

Capital Spend not 
funded from borrowing 

52 81 100 120 72 40 

Capital spend funded 
from borrowing 

12 81 103 122 73 38 

 

2.2 The Council’s borrowing need (the Capital Financing Requirement) 

The second prudential indicator is the Council’s Capital Financing Requirement (CFR).  
The CFR is simply the total historic outstanding capital expenditure which has not yet 
been paid for from either revenue or capital resources. It is essentially a measure of 
the Council’s indebtedness and so its underlying borrowing need.  Any capital 
expenditure above, which has not immediately been paid for through a revenue or 
capital resource, will increase the CFR.   

The CFR does not increase indefinitely, as the minimum revenue provision (MRP) is a 
statutory annual revenue charge which broadly reduces the indebtedness in line with 
each asset’s life, and so charges the economic consumption of capital assets as they 
are used. 

The CFR includes any other long-term liabilities (e.g., PFI schemes, finance leases). 
Whilst these increase the CFR, and therefore the Council’s borrowing requirement, 
these types of schemes include a borrowing facility by the PFI, PPP lease provider and 
so the Council is not required to separately borrow for these schemes. The Council 
currently has £155m of such schemes within the CFR. 

 
 

Page 6



7 
 

 

Table 3: Capital Financing Requirement 

 2020-21 
Actual 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

699 755 831 920 956 953 

Movement in CFR  56 76 89 36 -3 

 
Movement in CFR represented by 

    

Net financing need 
for the year 
(above) 

 
81 103 122 73 38 

Less MRP/VRP 
and other financing 
movements 

 
-25 -27 -33 -37 -41 

Movement in CFR  56 76 89 36 -3 

2.3 Minimum revenue provision (MRP) policy statement 

The Council is required to pay off an element of the accumulated General Fund capital 
spend each year (the CFR) through a revenue charge (the minimum revenue provision 
- MRP), although it is also allowed to undertake additional voluntary payments if 
required (voluntary revenue provision - VRP).   

DLUHC regulations have been issued which require the Full Council to approve an 
MRP Statement in advance of each year. A variety of options are provided to councils, 
so long as there is a prudent provision.  The policy, as approved by Executive 15 
February 2022 and Full Council 17 February 2022, is set out in Appendix 2. There are 
no changes compared to last year, the policy will be reviewed and updated as required 
once a decision has been taken on the implementation of a Housing Revenue Account.  

The main elements of the policy set out in Appendix 2 are set out below: 

 

 Pre 2008 debt, which cannot be distinguished against specific assets, is being 
repaid over 50 years on an equal instalment basis. 
 

 Some debt taken out between 2008 and 2012 is currently being repaid on an 
annuity basis. This reflects policy and regulations during this period. 
 

 All other debt is repaid on an equal life basis: as determined by the expected 
lifespan of each individual asset.  
 

 The policy also provides some discretion to the Section 151 officer in determining 
debt repayments. However, this is subject to the relevant scheme meeting 
targets. 

 

Page 7



8 
 

 

3. BORROWING  

 
The capital expenditure plans set out in Section 2 provide details of the service activity of 
the Council. The treasury management function ensures that the Council’s cash is 
organised in accordance with the relevant professional codes, so that sufficient cash is 
available to meet this service activity and the Council’s capital strategy. This will involve 
both the organisation of the cash flow and, where capital plans require, the organisation of 
appropriate borrowing facilities. The strategy covers the relevant treasury / prudential 
indicators, the current and projected debt positions and the annual investment strategy. 

3.1 Current portfolio position 

The overall treasury management portfolio as at 31st March 2021 and as at 31st January 
2022 are shown below for both borrowing and investments. 

Table 4: Treasury Portfolio 

 Actual Actual Current Current 
 31 March 

2021 
31 March 

2021 
31 

January 
2022 

31 
January 

2022 
 £m  % £m % 

Treasury Investments     

Banks 87.5 65.6 134.1 99.1 

Building Societies 9.3 7.0 0 0 

DMADF (H M Treasury) 36.5 27.4 1.2 0.9 

Total Treasury Investments 133.3 100 135.3 100 

Treasury External Borrowing      

Other 0.4 0.1 0.4 0.1 

PWLB 297.8 88.6 292.3 88.5 

LOBOs 37.8 11.3 37.8 11.4 

Total external borrowing 336.0 100 330.5 100 

Net Treasury Investments / 
(borrowing) 

-202.7  -195.2  

 

The Council’s forward projections for borrowing are summarised below. The table shows 
the actual external debt, against the underlying capital borrowing need, (the Capital 
Financing Requirement - CFR), highlighting any over or under borrowing.  

The Council is forecast to hold around £488 million of external borrowing and other long-
term liabilities as at 31 March 2022. This is analysed in Table 5. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 8



9 
 

 

Table 5: Borrowing Projection 

 2020-21 
Actual 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

External Debt  

Debt at 1 April  347.8 336.0 341.0 436.3 536.8 587.0 

Expected 
change in Debt 

-11.8 5.0 95.3 100.5 50.2 9.0 

Other long-term 
liabilities (OLTL) 

163.0 154.9 147.0 138.5 129.9 121.1 

Expected 
change in OLTL 

-8.1 -7.9 -8.5 -8.6 -8.8 -9.9 

Actual gross 
debt at 31 
March  

490.9 488.0 574.8 666.7 708.1 707.2 

The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

698.8 755.0 831.0 920.0 956.0 953.0 

Under / (over) 
borrowing 

207.9 267.0 256.2 253.3 247.9 245.8 

 

This table indicates that, based on the capital programme (paragraph 2.2), additional 
borrowing from PWLB will be required of £95m in 2022-23, £100m in 2023-24 and 
£50m in 2024-25. The percentage variable debt rate will reduce as interest rates on 
older debts were higher than current rates. 

The relative mix of future internal and external borrowing will be considered in 
conjunction with advice from the Council’s external treasury management advisor, 
noting that provision has been made in the updated Council budget plan revenue 
resource assumptions to accommodate a continued future mix of internal and external 
borrowing. 

Within the range of prudential indicators there are a number of key indicators to ensure 
that the Council operates its activities within well-defined limits.  One of these is that 
the Council needs to ensure that its gross debt does not, except in the short term, exceed 
the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional CFR for 2022-
23 and the following two financial years.  This allows some flexibility for limited early 
borrowing for future years but ensures that borrowing is not undertaken for revenue or 
speculative purposes.       

The Director of Finance & IT reports that the Council complied with this prudential 
indicator in the current year and does not envisage difficulties for the future.  This view 
takes into account current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this 
budget report.   

Salix Finance Limited provides interest free Government funding to the public sector to 
improve their energy efficiency, reduce carbon emissions and lower energy bills. The 
Council has taken the opportunity to secure £19.1 million interest free loans to part fund the 
£45 million approved street lighting replacement scheme in the Council’s approved capital 
plan. To date in 2021-22, the Council has received £1.7m from Salix. 

Page 9



10 
 

 

3.2 Treasury Indicators: limits to borrowing activity 

The operational boundary. This is the limit beyond which external debt is not normally 
expected to exceed.  In most cases, this would be a similar figure to the CFR, but may 
be lower or higher depending on the levels of actual debt and the ability to fund under-
borrowing by other cash resources. 

The authorised limit for external debt. This is a key prudential indicator and 
represents a control on the maximum level of borrowing. This represents a legal limit 
beyond which external debt is prohibited, and this limit needs to be set or revised by 
the full Council.  It reflects the level of external debt which, while not desired, could be 
afforded in the short term, but is not sustainable in the longer term.   

1. This is the statutory limit determined under section 3 (1) of the Local 
Government Act 2003. The Government retains an option to control either the 
total of all councils’ plans, or those of a specific council, although this power 
has not yet been exercised. 

2. The Council is asked to approve the following authorised limit. 

Table 6: Operational Boundary and Authorised Limit  

 2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

Operational boundary 850 840 930 960 

Authorised limit 852 860 940 970 

 

Page 10



11 
 

 

3.3 Interest Rate Forecast 

The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their service 
is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided the following 
forecasts on 7th February 2022.  These are forecasts for certainty rates, gilt yields plus 
80 bps. 
 
Table 7: Interest rate Forecast 

 

Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage 
to the UK and to economies around the world. After the Bank of England took 
emergency action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate 
unchanged at its subsequent meetings until raising it to 0.25% at its meeting on 16th 
December 2021. 

As shown in the forecast table above, the forecast for Bank Rate now includes a further 
three increases of 0.25% in March, May and November 2022 to end at 1.25%. 
However, Link Group stress that these forecasts could be subject to risks for the following 
reasons:  

 Mutations of the virus render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked vaccines to 
combat these mutations are delayed, or cannot be administered fast enough to 
prevent further lockdowns.  25% of the population not being vaccinated is also a 
significant risk to the NHS being overwhelmed and lockdowns being the only 
remaining option. 
 

 Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress 
economic activity. 
 

 The Monetary Policy Committee acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three 
years to raise Bank Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in 
inflation, to be weaker than we currently anticipate.  
 

 The Monetary Policy Committee tightens monetary policy too late to ward off 
building inflationary pressures. 
 

 The Government acts too quickly to cut expenditure to balance the national budget. 
 

 UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and 
financial services due to complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out 
significant remaining issues.  

 

 Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than 

forecast. 

 

Page 11



12 
 

 

 Major stock markets e.g., in the US, become increasingly judged as being over-

valued and susceptible to major price corrections. Central banks become 

increasingly exposed to the “moral hazard” risks of having to buy shares and 

corporate bonds to reduce the impact of major financial market selloffs on the 

general economy. 

 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine, Iran, North Korea, but also in Europe 
and Middle Eastern countries; on-going global power influence struggles 
between Russia/China/US. These could lead to increasing safe-haven flows, 
or if there is concerns over inflation an increase in yields.  

 
Since the start of 2021, there has been a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence 
PWLB rates. The forecasts show little overall increase in gilt yields during the 
forecast period to March 2025 but there will doubtless be a lot of unpredictable 
volatility during this forecast period. 

 
 
3.4 Investment and borrowing rates 
 
Investment returns have started improving in the second half of 21-22 and are expected to 
improve further during 22-23 as the MPC progressively increases Bank Rate.  

Borrowing interest rates fell to historically very low rates as a result of the COVID crisis and 
the quantitative easing operations of the Bank of England and still remain at historically low 
levels. The policy of avoiding new borrowing by running down spare cash balances has 
served local authorities well over the last few years.   

In November 2020, the Chancellor announced the conclusion to the review of margins over 
gilt yields for PWLB rates which had been increased by 100 bps in October 2019.  The 
standard and certainty margins were reduced by 100 bps but a prohibition was introduced 
to deny access to borrowing from the PWLB for any local authority which had purchase of 
assets for yield in its three-year capital programme. The current margins over gilt yields are 
as follows: -. 

 PWLB Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
 PWLB Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80 basis points (G+80bps) 
 PWLB HRA Standard Rate is gilt plus 100 basis points (G+100bps) 
 PWLB HRA Certainty Rate is gilt plus 80bps (G+80bps) 
 Local Infrastructure Rate is gilt plus 60bps (G+60bps) 

 
Link Group has forecast a long-term (beyond 10 years) Bank Rate of 2.00%.  As some 
PWLB certainty rates are currently below 2.00%, there remains value in considering long-
term borrowing from the PWLB where appropriate.  Temporary borrowing rates are likely, 
however, to remain near Bank Rate and may also prove attractive as part of a balanced 
debt portfolio. In addition, there are also some cheap alternative sources of long-term 
borrowing if an authority is seeking to avoid a “cost of carry” but also wishes to mitigate 
future re-financing risk 

While this Council will not be able to avoid borrowing to finance new capital expenditure, to 
replace maturing debt and the rundown of reserves, there will be a cost of carry, (the 
difference between higher borrowing costs and lower investment returns), to any new 
borrowing that causes a temporary increase in cash balances. 

3.5 Borrowing strategy  

The Council is currently maintaining an under-borrowed position.  This means that the 
capital borrowing need, (the Capital Financing Requirement), has not been fully funded with 

Page 12



13 
 

 

loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been 
used as a temporary measure. This strategy is prudent as investment returns are low. 

The Chief Financial Officer has the delegated responsibility to arrange such loans as are 
legally permitted to meet the Council’s borrowing requirement and to arrange terms of all 
loans to the Council including amounts, periods and rates of interest. 

Against this background and the risks within the economic forecast, caution will be adopted 
with the 2022-23 treasury operations. The Director of Finance & IT will monitor interest rates 
in financial markets and adopt a pragmatic approach to changing circumstances: 

 
 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a sharp FALL in borrowing rates, then 

borrowing will be postponed. 
 
 if it was felt that there was a significant risk of a much sharper RISE in borrowing 

rates than that currently forecast, perhaps arising from an acceleration in the rate 
of increase in central rates in the USA and UK, an increase in world economic 
activity, or a sudden increase in inflation risks, then the portfolio position will be re-
appraised. Most likely, fixed rate funding will be drawn whilst interest rates are lower 
than they are projected to be in the next few years. 
 

At the point of acquiring longer term funding consideration will be given to:  

 
 Whether the forecast capital borrowing requirement has reduced or slipped into the 

following year.  
 The forecast changes to levels of reserves/balances, including whether the Council 

has received funding in advance of spending for capital schemes. 

The strategy is to take longer term fixed rate borrowing when opportunities arise in 
combination with the temporary use of short-term borrowing as required. This strategy is 
considered prudent as base rate rises are expected to be measured and small during the 
forecast period (to Q1 2025). 

 

Any decisions will be reported to the appropriate decision-making body at the earliest 
opportunity. 

3.6 Policy on borrowing in advance of need  

The Council will not borrow more than or in advance of its needs purely in order to profit 
from the investment of the extra sums borrowed. Any decision to borrow in advance will be 
within forward approved Capital Financing Requirement estimates and will be considered 
carefully to ensure that value for money can be demonstrated and that the Council can 
ensure the security of such funds.  
 
Risks associated with any borrowing in advance activity will be subject to prior 
appraisal and subsequent reporting through the mid-year or annual reporting 
mechanism.  

3.7 Debt rescheduling 

Rescheduling of current borrowing in our debt portfolio is unlikely to occur as there is 
still a very large difference between premature redemption rates and new borrowing 
rates, even though the general margin of PWLB rates over gilt yields was reduced by 
100 bps in November 2020. 
 

Page 13



14 
 

 

3.8 New financial institutions as a source of borrowing and / or types of 
borrowing  

Currently the PWLB Certainty Rate is set at gilts + 80 basis points for both HRA and 
non-HRA borrowing.  However, consideration may still need to be given to sourcing 
funding from the following sources for the following reasons: 
 

 Local authorities (primarily shorter dated maturities out to 3 years or so – 
still cheaper than the Certainty Rate). 

 Financial institutions (primarily insurance companies and pension funds but 
also some banks, out of forward dates where the objective is to avoid a 
“cost of carry” or to achieve refinancing certainty over the next few years). 

 Municipal Bonds Agency.  

 UK Infrastructure Bank. 

Our advisors will keep us informed as to the relative merits of each of these alternative 
funding sources. 

Page 14



15 
 

 

4. ANNUAL INVESTMENT STRATEGY 

4.1 Investment policy – management of risk 

The Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC and CIPFA have 
extended the meaning of ‘investments’ to include both financial and non-financial 
investments.  This report deals solely with treasury (financial) investments, (as managed 
by the treasury management team).  Non-financial investments, essentially the purchase 
of income yielding assets, are covered in the Capital and Investment Strategies (separate 
reports that went to full Council 17th February 2022).  

 
The Council’s investment policy has regard to the following: - 

 DLUHC’s Guidance on Local Government Investments (“the Guidance”). 

 CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross 
Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 (“the Code”).  

 CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018.   
 
The Council’s investment priorities will be security first, portfolio liquidity second and then 
yield, (return).  The Council will aim to achieve the optimum return (yield) on its investments 
commensurate with proper levels of security and liquidity and with the Council’s risk 
appetite. In the current economic climate, it is considered appropriate to keep investments 
short term to cover cash flow needs. However, where appropriate (from an internal as well 
as external perspective), the Council will also consider the value available in periods up to 
12 months with high credit rated financial institutions, as well as wider range fund options.  
 
The guidance from the DLUHC and CIPFA places a high priority on the management of 
risk. This authority has adopted a prudent approach to managing risk and defines its risk 
appetite by the following means: - 
 

1. Minimum acceptable credit criteria are applied in order to generate a list of 
highly creditworthy counterparties.  This also enables diversification and thus 
avoidance of concentration risk. The key ratings used to monitor counterparties 
are the short term and long-term ratings.   

 
2. Other information: ratings will not be the sole determinant of the quality of an 

institution; it is important to continually assess and monitor the financial sector 
on both a micro and macro basis and in relation to the economic and political 
environments in which institutions operate. The assessment will also take 
account of information that reflects the opinion of the markets. To achieve this 
consideration, the Council will engage with its advisors to maintain a monitor 
on market pricing such as “credit default swaps” and overlay that information 
on top of the credit ratings.  

 
3. Other information sources used will include the financial press, share price and 

other such information pertaining to the financial sector in order to establish the 
most robust scrutiny process on the suitability of potential investment 
counterparties. 

 
4. This Council has defined the list of types of investment instruments that the 

treasury management team are authorised to use.  

 Specified investments are those with a high level of credit quality and 
subject to a maturity limit of one year or have less than a year left to run to 
maturity if originally they were classified as being non-specified investments 
solely due to the maturity period exceeding one year.  

 Non-specified investments are those with less high credit quality, may be 
for periods in excess of one year, and/or are more complex instruments 

Page 15



16 
 

 

which require greater consideration by members and officers before being 
authorised for use.  

 
5. Non-specified and loan investment limits. The Council has determined that it 

will set a limit to the maximum exposure of the total treasury management 
investment portfolio to non-specified treasury management investments of 
£20m. 

 
6. Lending limits, (amounts and maturity), for each counterparty will be set 

through applying the matrix table in paragraph 4.2. 
 

7. Transaction limits are set for each type of investment in 4.2. 
 

8. This Council will set a limit for its investments which are invested for longer 
than 365 days, (see paragraph 4.4).   

 
9. Investments will only be placed with counterparties from countries with a 

specified minimum sovereign rating, (see paragraph 4.3). 
 

10. This Council has engaged external consultants, (see paragraph 1.5), to 
provide expert advice on how to optimise an appropriate balance of security, 
liquidity and yield, given the risk appetite of this Council in the context of the 
expected level of cash balances and need for liquidity throughout the year. 

 
11. All investments will be denominated in sterling. 

 
12. As a result of the change in accounting standards for 2022-23 under IFRS 9, 

this Council will consider the implications of investment instruments which 
could result in an adverse movement in the value of the amount invested and 
resultant charges at the end of the year to the General Fund. (In November 
2018, the MHCLG, concluded a consultation for a temporary override to allow 
English local authorities time to adjust their portfolio of all pooled investments 
by announcing a statutory override to delay implementation of IFRS 9 for five 
years ending 31st March 2023.   

 
However, this Council will also pursue value for money in treasury management and will 
monitor the yield from investment income against appropriate benchmarks for investment 
performance, (see paragraph 4.5). Regular monitoring of investment performance will be 
carried out during the year. 

4.2 Creditworthiness policy 

The primary principle governing the Council’s investment criteria is the security of its 
investments, although the yield or return on the investment is also a key consideration.  
After this main principle, the Council will ensure that: 

 It maintains a policy covering both the categories of investment types it 
will invest in, criteria for choosing investment counterparties with 
adequate security, and monitoring their security. This is set out in the 
specified and non-specified investment sections below; and 

 It has sufficient liquidity in its investments. For this purpose, it will set 
out procedures for determining the maximum periods for which funds 
may prudently be committed. These procedures also apply to the 
Council’s prudential indicators covering the maximum principal sums 
invested.   

Page 16



17 
 

 

The Director of Finance & IT will maintain a counterparty list in compliance with the 
following criteria and will revise the criteria and submit them to Council for approval as 
necessary. These criteria are separate to that which determines which types of 
investment instrument are either specified or non-specified as it provides an overall 
pool of counterparties considered high quality which the Council may use, rather than 
defining what types of investment instruments are to be used.   

The criteria for providing a pool of high-quality investment counterparties, (both 
specified and non-specified investments) are: 

Table 8: Investment Counterparties  
 

Institution 

 

Amount  

Time 

limit 

To qualify as 
a “specified 
investment” 

Non-UK 

Country 

Short term 
Investment 

rating 

Long Term 
investment 

rating 

Bank /Building 
Society 

£30m 2yrs Less than 1 
year 

AA- Requires if 
available  Fitch 
F1 S & P A-1 
Moody’s P-1   

Moody’s Aa3 
or Fitch AA- if 
not available. 

Bank /Building 
Society 

£20m 1yr Less than 1 
year 

AA- Requires if 
available Fitch 
F1 S&P A_1 
Moody’s P_1w 

Moody’s A1 
or Fitch A1 if 
not available  

Bank/Building 
Society 

£7m 100 
days 

Less than 1 
year 

AA- Either F1 or 
S&P A_1 

Either 
Moody’s A1 

Nat West Bank £20m 1yr Less than 1 
year 

AA- Council 
bank/part 
Government 
owned 

n/a 

Treasury 
Bill/DMO 

No limit 1yr Less than 1 
year 

 n/a UK Gov. 
rating 

Money Market 
Fund 

£20m Instant 
access 

Less than 1 
year 

 n/a Either 
Moody’s AAA 
Fitch AAA or 
S&P AAA 

Local Authority £20m 1yr Less than 1 
year 

AA- n/a n/a 

 

Use of additional information other than credit ratings - Additional requirements 
under the Code require the Council to supplement credit rating information.  Whilst the 
above criteria rely primarily on the application of credit ratings to provide a pool of 
appropriate counterparties for officers to use, additional operational market information 
will be applied before making any specific investment decision from the agreed pool of 
counterparties. This additional market information (for example Credit Default Swaps, 
rating Watches/Outlooks) will be applied to compare the relative security of differing 
investment opportunities. 

 
Creditworthiness - Significant levels of downgrades to Short- and Long-Term credit 
ratings have not materialised since the crisis in March 2020. In the main, where they 
did change, any alterations were limited to Outlooks. However, as economies are 
beginning to reopen, there have been some instances of previous lowering of Outlooks 
being reversed.  
 
CDS prices - Although bank CDS prices, (these are market indicators of credit risk), 
spiked upwards at the end of March / early April 2020 due to the heightened market 
uncertainty and ensuing liquidity crisis that affected financial markets, they have 
returned to more average levels since then. However, sentiment can easily shift, so it 
will remain important to undertake continual monitoring of all aspects of risk and return 

Page 17



18 
 

 

in the current circumstances. Link monitor CDS prices as part of their creditworthiness 
service to local authorities and the Council has access to this information via its Link-
provided Passport portal. 
 

4.3 Other limits 

Due care will be taken to consider the exposure of the Council’s total investment 
portfolio to non-specified investments, countries, groups and sectors.   

a) Non-specified treasury management investment limit. The Council has 
determined that it will limit the maximum total exposure of treasury 
management investments to non-specified treasury management investments 
as being £20m of the total treasury management investment portfolio. 

b) Country limit. The Council has determined that it will only use approved 
counterparties from the UK and from countries with a minimum sovereign credit 
rating of A1 for the UK and AA- for the rest of the world from Fitch or equivalent. 
The list of countries that qualify using these credit criteria as at the date of this 
report are shown in Appendix 4.  This list will be added to, or deducted from, 
by officers should ratings change in accordance with this policy. 

4.4  Investment strategy 

In-house funds. Investments will be made with reference to the core balance and cash 
flow requirements and the outlook for short-term interest rates (i.e., rates for investments 
up to 12 months). Greater returns are usually obtainable by investing for longer periods. 
While most cash balances are required in order to manage the ups and downs of cash flow, 
where cash sums can be identified that could be invested for longer periods, the value to 
be obtained from longer term investments will be carefully assessed.  

 If it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to rise significantly within the time horizon 
being considered, then consideration will be given to keeping most investments 
as being short term or variable.  

 Conversely, if it is thought that Bank Rate is likely to fall within that time period, 
consideration will be given to locking in higher rates currently obtainable, for 
longer periods. 

Investment returns expectations.  
The current forecast shown in paragraph 3.3, includes a forecast for Bank Rate to reach 
1.25% in November 2022.  
 
The suggested budgeted investment earnings rates for returns on investments placed for 
periods up to about three months during each financial year, are as follows:  
 
Table 9: Investment earnings rates  

Average earnings in each year Now Previously 

2022-23 1.00% 0.50% 

2023-24 1.25% 0.75% 

2024-25 1.25% 1.00% 

2025-26 1.25% 1.25% 

Years 6 to 10 1.50% - 

Years 10+ 2.00% 2.00% 

 
 

Page 18



19 
 

 

For its cash flow generated balances, the Council will seek to utilise its business reserve 
instant access and notice accounts, money market funds and short-dated deposits, 
(overnight to 100 days), in order to benefit from the compounding of interest.   

 

Investment treasury indicator and limit - total principal funds invested for greater than 
365 days. These limits are set with regard to the Council’s liquidity requirements and to 
reduce the need for early sale of an investment and are based on the availability of funds 
after each year-end. 
 
The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicator and limit:  
 
Table 10: Upper limit for principle sums invested for longer than 365 days 

 2022-23 
£m 

2023-24 
£m 

2024-25 
£m 

Principal sums invested for 
longer than 365 days 

£20m £20m £20m 

 

4.5  Investment performance / risk benchmarking 

This Council will use an investment benchmark to assess the investment performance of 
its investment portfolio of overnight, 7 day, compounded/ SONIA. The investment average 
return up to the end of January was 0.11% with average investment balance of £176m. 
 

4.6  End of year investment report 

At the end of the financial year, the Council will report on its investment activity as part of 
its Annual Treasury Report.  
 

5. Other considerations  

CIPFA published the revised Prudential and Treasury Management codes on 20th 
December 2021 and has stated that formal adoption is not required until the 2023-24 
financial year. This Council has to have regard to these codes of practice when it 
prepares the Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment 
Strategy, and also related reports, which are taken to Full Council for approval during 
the financial year.  

Key changes to the codes include the following:  

 A requirement for the Council to adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury 
indicator to support the financing risk management of the capital financing 
requirement; this is to be shown in chart form for a minimum of ten years, with 
material differences between the liability benchmark and actual loans to be 
explained. 

 Long term treasury investments, (including pooled funds), are to be classed as 
commercial investments unless justified by a cash flow business case. 

 Clarify what CIPFA expects a local authority to borrow for and what they do not 
view as appropriate. This will include the requirement to set a proportionate 
approach to commercial and service capital investment. The Council has no 
plans to invest in commercial activities primarily for revenue yield. 

Page 19



20 
 

 

 Address Environmental, Social and Governance (ESG) issues within the 
Capital Strategy.  

 Require implementation of a policy to review commercial property, with a view 
to divest where appropriate.  

 Create new Investment Practices to manage risks associated with non-treasury 
investment (similar to the current Treasury Management Practices). These will 
be prepared and included with the treasury management strategy 2023-24.  

 Ensure that any long term treasury investment is supported by a business 
model. 

 A requirement to effectively manage liquidity and longer term cash flow 
requirements.  

 Amendment to TMP1 to address ESG policy within the treasury management 
risk framework.  

 Amendment to the knowledge and skills register for individuals involved in the 
treasury management function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity 
of the treasury management conducted by each council. These are covered in 
the Treasury Management Practices that are reviewed every year. 

 A new requirement to clarify reporting requirements for service and commercial 
investment, (especially where supported by borrowing/leverage).  

 
In addition, all investments and investment income must be attributed to one of the following 
three purposes:  

 Treasury management - Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury 
risk management activity, this type of investment represents balances which 
are only held until the cash is required for use.  Treasury investments may also 
arise from other treasury risk management activity which seeks to prudently 
manage the risks, costs or income relating to existing or forecast debt or 
treasury investments. 

 Service delivery -  Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of 
public services including housing, regeneration and local 
infrastructure.  Returns on this category of investment which are funded by 
borrowing are permitted only in cases where the income is “either related to the 
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary 
purpose”. 

 Commercial return - Investments held primarily for financial return with no 
treasury management or direct service provision purpose.  Risks on such 
investments should be proportionate to a council’s financial capacity – i.e., that 
‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves without 
unmanageable detriment to local services. An authority must not borrow to 
invest primarily for financial return. 

As this Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 
deals soley with treasury management investments, the categories of service delivery 
and commercial investments will be dealt with as part of the Capital Strategy report.  

Page 20



21 
 

 

In addition to the revisions to the Treasury Management and Prudential Codes, the 
DLUHC launched a consultation on changes to the capital framework in November 
2021. Implementation of  these changes is also set for the 2023-24 financial year 

Members will be updated on how all these changes will impact our current approach 
and any changes required will be formally adopted within the 2023-24 TMSS report. 

6. Financial and Resources Appraisal 

6.1 The financial implications are set out in section 1,2,3 and 4 of this report 

7. Risk Management and Governance Issues 
 
7.1 The principal risks associated with treasury management are: 
 
Risk: Loss of investments as a result of failure of counterparties.  
Mitigation:  Limiting the types of investment instruments used, setting lending criteria for 
counterparties, and limiting the extent of exposure to individual counterparties. 
 
Risk: That the Council will commit too much of its investments in fixed term investments 
and might have to recall investments prematurely resulting in possible additional costs or 
new borrowing (Liquidity risk). 
Mitigation: Ensuring that a minimum proportion of investments are held in short term 
investments for cash flow purposes.    
 
Risk: Increase in the net financing costs of the Council due to borrowing at high rates of 
interest.  
Mitigation: Planning and undertaking borrowing and lending in light of assessments of future 
interest rate movements, and by undertaking mostly long term borrowing at fixed rates of 
interest (to reduce the volatility of capital financing costs). 
 
Risk: Higher interest rates increase borrowing making it more difficult to self-finance capital 
schemes. Debt servicing becomes less affordable and less sustainable and crowds out 
revenue spend. 
Mitigation: To pause, delay or defer capital schemes. Also review opportunities to borrow 
in the future at current interest rates.  
 
Risk: Return on non-treasury investments lower than expected. 
Mitigation: Review and analysis of risk prior to undertaking non-treasury investments. 
 
Risk: Coronavirus. The level of uncertainty in the future path of economic growth, 
unemployment, fiscal and monetary policy make it very difficult to accurately assess the 
impact on investments, capital spend and borrowing for the Council. The scale of impact 
will depend on the length of any lockdown and the depth of any recessionary impact.  
Mitigation: Cash investments will be mainly held short term due to the uncertainties caused 
by the virus and we will continue to monitoring the situation and report any changes in the 
next Treasury report.  
 
Risk: The Council’s Minimum Revenue Policy charges an insufficient amount to the 
Revenue Estimates to repay debt. 
Mitigation: Align the Minimum Revenue Policy to the service benefit derived from the 
Council’s assets.  
 
Risk: Associated with cash management, legal requirements and fraud. 
Mitigation: These risks are managed through: 

Page 21



22 
 

 

 Treasury Management Practices covering all aspects of Treasury management 
procedures including cash flow forecasting, documentation, monitoring, 
reporting and division of duties. 

 All Treasury management procedures and transactions are subject to 
inspection by internal and external auditors. The council also employs external 
financial advisors to provide information on market trends, credit rating alerts, 
lending criteria advice and investment opportunities. 

The Council also employs external financial advisors to provide information on market 
trends, credit rating alerts, lending criteria advice and investment opportunities. 
 
Risk: Anticipated borrowing is lower than expected because the 2022-23 capital 
programme is underspent. This is explained in more detail below, together with the actions 
being taken to reduce these risks: 
Mitigation: The Council is required to set a balanced budget for its revenue estimates; so in 
broad terms, income received will match expenditure over the 2022-23 financial year. The 
2022-23 revenue estimates cause only temporary cash flow differences, for example when 
income is received in a different month to when the expenditure is incurred. 
 
However, the 2022-23 capital budget will cause a cash flow shortfall in the long term, which 
generates a borrowing requirement. While some of the capital budget is funded 
immediately, mainly with Government grants, other elements are not funded initially, 
leading to the cash flow deficit that requires borrowing. 
 
Managing borrowing is part of the Treasury Management role. To help in its management, 
the Treasury Strategy identifies the element within the capital budget that is not funded 
straightaway, to anticipate the Council’s borrowing requirement. 
 
However, when the capital budget is underspent, the Council has a lower borrowing 
requirement than anticipated. This risk is managed in practice because the Council only 
borrows when there is an actual cash flow shortage. The uncertainty around spend against 
the capital budget makes cash flow management more difficult. For example, it is less likely 
that the Council would take advantage of a short-term fall in interest rates, without more 
certainty around the timing of any borrowing need. Actions that have taken place to manage 
the risks relating to this uncertainty in the timing of capital spend are: Councillor and Officer 
challenge sessions on the capital budget; increased scrutiny of the capital forecasts in the 
quarterly monitoring, and the collection of additional documentation around the critical paths 
of individual schemes. 
 
Risk: Geopolitical risk - At present invasion of Ukraine by Russia. 
 
The level of uncertainty in the future effect of the conflict on inflation, economic growth, fiscal 
and monetary policy make it very difficult to accurately assess the impact on investments, 
capital spend and borrowing for the Council. The scale of impact will depend on how the 
conflict develops. 
 
Mitigation: Cash investments will now mainly be held short term due to the uncertainties 
caused by the conflict and we will continue to monitoring interest rates and the effect on 
borrowing costs and report any changes in the next Treasury report.  
 

8. Legal Appraisal 

8.1 Any relevant legal considerations are set out in the report. 

 

Page 22



23 
 

 

9. Other Implications 

9.1 Equality & Diversity – no direct implications 
9.2 Sustainability implications – no direct implications 
9.3 Green house Gas Emissions Impact – no direct implications 
9.4 Community safety implications – no direct implications 
9.5 Human Rights Act – no direct implications 
9.6 Trade Unions – no direct implications 
9.7 Ward Implications – no direct implications 
9.8 Implication for Corporate Parenting – no direct implications 
9.9 Issues arising from Privacy Impact Assessment– no direct implications 
 
 
10. Not for publications documents  
10.1 None 
 
11. Options 
11.1 None 
 
12. Recommendations 
12.1 That the report be noted and referred to full Council for adoption. 
 
11.  Appendices 
Appendix 1 Prudential and Treasury Indicators  
Appendix 2 MRP Policy 
Appendix 3 Economic Background 
Appendix 4 Approved countries for investments 
Appendix 5 Treasury management scheme of delegation 
Appendix 6 The treasury management role of the section 151 officer 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 23



24 
 

 

Appendix 1 

THE CAPITAL PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS 2022-23 – 2025-26  

To facilitate the decision making process and support capital investment decisions, the 
Prudential Code requires the Council to approve and monitor a minimum number of 
prudential indicators. These indicators are mandatory and cover affordability, 
prudence, capital expenditure, external debt and treasury management.  

The indicators are purely for internal use by the Council and are not intended to be 
used as comparators between councils. In addition to this in-year indication, the benefit 
from monitoring arises from following the movement in indicators over time and the 
year-on-year changes.  

Capital expenditure 

The Council’s capital expenditure plans are the key driver of treasury management 
activity. The output of the capital expenditure plans is reflected in the prudential 
indicators, which are designed to assist members’ overview and confirm capital 
expenditure plans. 

Capital 
expenditure 
 

2020-21 
Actual 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

Total 64 162 203 242 145 78 

 

Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

  

2020-21 2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 2025-26 

Actual  Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate Estimate 

£m £m £m £m £m £m 

Opening Capital 
Financing Requirement 

711 699 755 831 920 956 

Increase in borrowing  12 81 103 122 73 38 

Less MRP and other 
financing movements 

-24 -25 -27 -33 -37 -41 

Closing Capital 
Financing Requirement 

699 755 831 920 956 953 

 

Affordability prudential indicators 

The previous sections cover the overall capital and control of borrowing prudential 
indicators, but within this framework prudential indicators are required to assess the 
affordability of the capital investment plans.   These provide an indication of the impact 
of the capital investment plans on the Council’s overall finances.  The Council is asked 
to approve the following indicators: 

a. Ratio of financing costs to net revenue stream 

This indicator identifies the trend in the cost of capital, (borrowing and other long-term 
obligation costs net of investment income), against the net revenue stream. 
 
 

Page 24



25 
 

 

 2021-22 

£m 

2022-23 

£m 

2023-24 

£m 

2024-25 

£m 

2025-26 

£m 

MRP, excluding PFI 20.0 22.8 28.5 32.1 36.1 

MRP PFI, finance lease 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 4.6 

Old West Yorkshire Waste debt 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 

Interest on external borrowing 15.9 16.4 17.8 19.3 20.8 

Interest on PFI 16.5 15.9 15.3 14.6 14.0 

Premium on debt repayment 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 0.3 

Investment income -0.3 -0.3 -0.5 -0.5 -0.6 

      

Total Capital Financing Costs 57.2 59.9 66.2 70.6 75.4 

Projected Net Revenue Stream 385.4 391.3 407.2 416.8 425.0 

Ratio to Net Revenue Stream  14.8% 15.3% 16.3% 16.9% 17.7% 

Invest to Save element of Total 
Capital Financing Costs 

5.8 6.8 10.3 12.3 15.8 

Invest to Save contribution to Ratio to 
Net Revenue Stream 

1.5% 1.7% 2.5% 2.9% 3.7% 

 

Prudence indicators  

 Gross debt and the capital financing requirement  

The Prudential Code requires the calculation of the capital financing requirement 
(CFR). This figure represents the Council's underlying need to borrow for a capital 
purpose and the change year-on-year will be influenced by the capital expenditure in 
the year.  

In order to ensure that over the medium term gross debt will only be for capital 
purposes, the Council must ensure that gross debt does not, except in the short-term, 
exceed the total of the CFR in the preceding year plus the estimates of any additional 
CFR for the current and next two financial years. In cases where the CFR is reducing 
over the period, the Code allows the CFR at its highest point to be used in this 
calculation.  

The Council had no difficulty meeting the previous calculation in 2020-21, nor are any 
difficulties envisaged for the current or future years. This view takes into account 
current commitments, existing plans, and the proposals in this budget report and is 
shown in the table over. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



26 
 

 

 2020-21 
Actual 

£m 

2021-22 
Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 
Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 
Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

External Debt  

Debt at 1 April  347.8 336.0 341.0 436.3 536.8 587.0 

Expected 
change in Debt 

-11.8 5.0 95.3 100.5 50.2 9.0 

Other long-term 
liabilities (OLTL) 

163.0 154.9 147.0 138.5 129.9 121.1 

Expected 
change in OLTL 

-8.1 -7.9 -8.5 -8.6 -8.8 -9.9 

Actual gross 
debt at 31 
March  

490.9 488.0 574.8 666.7 708.1 707.2 

The Capital 
Financing 
Requirement 

698.8 755.0 831.0 920.0 956.0 953.0 

Under / (over) 
borrowing 

207.9 267.0 256.2 253.3 247.9 245.8 

 

External debt indicators 

Operational boundary 

 2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 

Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

£m 

Total 850 840 930 960 960 

 

Authorised limit 

 2021-22 

Estimate 

£m 

2022-23 

Estimate 

£m 

2023-24 

Estimate 

£m 

2024-25 

Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

£m 

Total 852 860 940 970 970 

 

Actual external debt as at 31st March - this will be reported within the outturn report on 
treasury management. 
 

Maturity structure of borrowing 

These gross limits are set to reduce the Council’s exposure to large, fixed rate sums 
falling due for refinancing, and are required for upper and lower limits.   

The Council is asked to approve the following treasury indicators and limits: 

 

Maturity structure of fixed interest rate borrowing 2022-23 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 50% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 50% 

10 years to 20 years  0% 90% 

20 years to 30 years  20% 90% 

30 years to 40 years  20% 90% 

40 years to 50 years  20% 90% 

   

Page 26



27 
 

 

Maturity structure of variable interest rate borrowing 2022-23 

 Lower Upper 

Under 12 months 0% 20% 

12 months to 2 years 0% 20% 

2 years to 5 years 0% 20% 

5 years to 10 years 0% 20% 

10 years and over 0% 20% 

 

Upper limit for principle sums invested 
 
Total principal sums invested for periods longer than 365 days – if the Council invests 
or plans to invest for longer than 365 days it must set an upper limit for each financial 
year for the maturing of such investments. 

 

£m 2021-22 
£m 

2022-23 
£m 

2023-24 
£m 

Principal sums invested for 
longer than 365 days 

£20m £20m £20m 

 

Control of interest rate exposure 

Please see paragraphs 3.3, 3.4 and 4.4. 

Page 27



 
 
 

28 
 

Appendix 2 

MRP Policy 

1.1 The Local Government Act 2003 requires the Council to make a provision for the 
repayment of borrowing used to finance its capital expenditure, known as the Minimum 
Revenue Provision (MRP). 
 
1.2 The MRP is the amount of principal capital repayment that is set aside each year in 
order to repay the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) based on the requirement of 
statutory regulation and the Council’s own accounting policies. 
 
1.3 The Council is required to state as part of its budget process the policy for determining 
its MRP. The method for calculating the MRP on each category of debt is outlined below: 
 
a) The policy for charging MRP on historic supported borrowing is on the asset life method 
calculated on an equal instalment basis over 50 years. 
 
b) Unsupported or prudential borrowing MRP is based on the Asset Life method – that is, 
the expenditure financed from borrowing is divided by the expected asset life. For schemes 
funded before 31st March 2012 the MRP is calculated on the annuity basis and for schemes 
funded after 1st April 2012 the MRP is calculated on an equal instalment basis. This means 
no change to existing policy. 
 
c) Since 2009-10 the appropriate financing costs for the Council’s Building Schools for the 
Future (BSF) Private Finance Initiative (PFI) schemes have been included in MRP 
calculations. In 2018-19 the MRP policy for PFI assets was brought into line with the main 
MRP Policy and the charge of the principal to the revenue account is now over the life of 
the school building assets. 
 
d) Asset lives are reviewed on an ongoing basis to match the MRP charge to the Revenue 
Estimates with the service benefit derived from the asset. 
 
e) Where the Council has made property investments [or an invest to save investment] 
during or after 2018-19, the Section 151 Officer may choose to repay debt over the asset 
life using the annuity method. This is subject to an in house valuation that the investment 
property has retained or increased in value. Further it is subject to the condition that the in-
year yield is above the average for Treasury Investments and this is expected to continue 
into the future. 
 
f) Where capital expenditure involves repayable loans or grants to third parties no MRP is 
required where the loan or grant is repayable. By exception, on the basis of a business 
case and risk assessment, this approach may be amended at the discretion of the Director 
of Finance & IT. 
 
1.4 The CFR represents the amount of capital expenditure that has been financed from 
borrowing, less any amounts that the Council has set aside to repay that debt through the 
MRP. Borrowing may come from loans taken from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 
or commercial banks, finance leases (including PFI) or from the use of the Council’s own 
cash balances. 
 
1.5 External debt can be less than the CFR. External debt cannot exceed the CFR (other 
than for short term cash flow purposes or cash flow management.) 
 

Page 28



 

29 
 

1.6 There is an International Financial Reporting Standards requirement that assets funded 
from finance leases (including PFI deals) are brought onto the balance sheet. This also 
includes the liability as well as the asset. Therefore, the term borrowing does not just include 
loans from the Public Works Loan Board and banks, but also the liability implicit in PFI and 
other finance leases. IFRS 16 is due to be implemented from the 1 April 2022 and as a 
result, more of the Council’s leases will be treated as finance leases. Therefore, more of 
the costs of these leases will be included in capital financing costs for the purposes of 
calculating the Prudential Indicator.  
 
1.7 The CIP will need to be reviewed through the planning cycle to ensure it remains 
affordable within revenue resources and to take account of the actual implementation of 
capital schemes. 
 
1.8 Loans to third parties for a capital purpose can be repaid with the repayments 
providing the following conditions are met: the capital scheme is self-financing; that 
there is overall confidence that the loan will be repaid; that the third party adheres 
to the agreed repayment schedule. 

 
 

Page 29



 
 
 

30 
 

 Appendix 3 Economic Background (provided by Link Asset Services)  

COVID-19 and vaccines  

These were the game changer during 2021 which raised high hopes that life in the UK 
would be able to largely return to normal in the second half of the year. However, the 
bursting onto the scene of the Omicron mutation at the end of November, rendered the 
initial two doses of all vaccines largely ineffective in preventing infection. This dashed such 
hopes and raised major concerns that a fourth wave of the virus could overwhelm hospitals 
in early 2022. What we now know is that although this mutation is very fast spreading, it 
does not cause severe illness in fully vaccinated people. Rather than go for full lockdowns 
which heavily damage the economy, the government strategy this time focused on getting 
as many people as possible to have a third (booster) vaccination after three months from 
the previous last injection., It also placed restrictions on large indoor gatherings and 
hospitality venues over Christmas and into January and requested workers to work from 
home. This hit sectors like restaurants, travel, tourism and hotels hard which had already 
been hit hard during 2021.Economic growth will also have been lower due to people being 
ill and not working, similar to the pingdemic in July. The economy, therefore, faces 
significant headwinds in early 2022 although some sectors have learned how to cope well 
with Covid. The big question still remains as to whether any further mutations of this virus 
could develop which render all current vaccines ineffective, as opposed to how quickly 
vaccines can be modified to deal with them and enhanced testing programmes be 
implemented to contain their spread until tweaked vaccines become widely available. 

 
A SUMMARY OVERVIEW OF THE FUTURE PATH OF BANK RATE 

 The threat from Omicron was a wild card causing huge national concern at the time of 
December’s MPC meeting; now it is seen as a vanquished foe disappearing in the rear-
view mirror. 

 The MPC shifted up a gear in February in raising Bank Rate by another 0.25% and 
narrowly avoiding making it a 0.50% increase by a 5-4 voting margin. 

 Our forecast now expects the MPC to deliver another 0.25% increase in March; their 
position appears to be to go for sharp increases to get the job done and dusted. 

 The March increase is likely to be followed by an increase to 1.0% in May and then to 
1.25% in November. 

 The MPC is currently much more heavily focused on combating inflation than on 
protecting economic growth. 

 However, 54% energy cap cost increases from April, together with 1.25% extra 
employee national insurance, food inflation around 5% and council tax likely to rise in 
the region of 5% too - these increases are going to hit lower income families hard 
despite some limited assistance from the Chancellor to postpone the full impact of rising 
energy costs. 

 Consumers are estimated to be sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left over from 
the pandemic so that will cushion some of the impact of the above increases.  But most 
of those holdings are held by more affluent people whereas poorer people already 
spend nearly all their income before these increases hit and have few financial 
reserves.  

 The increases are already highly disinflationary; inflation will also be on a gradual path 
down after April so that raises a question as to whether the MPC may shift into 
protecting economic growth by November, i.e., it is more debatable as to whether they 
will deliver another increase then. 

 The BIG ISSUE – will the current spike in inflation lead to a second-round effect in 
terms of labour demanding higher wages, (and/or lots of people getting higher wages 
by changing job)? 

Page 30



 

31 
 

 If the labour market remains very tight during 2022, then wage inflation poses a greater 
threat to overall inflation being higher for longer, and the MPC may then feel it needs 
to take more action.  

 
PWLB RATES 

 The yield curve has flattened out considerably. 

 We view the markets as having built in, already, nearly all the effects on gilt yields of 
the likely increases in Bank Rate. 

 It is difficult to say currently what effect the Bank of England starting to sell gilts will 
have on gilt yields once Bank Rate rises to 1%: it is likely to act cautiously as it has 
already started on not refinancing maturing debt. A passive process of not refinancing 
maturing debt could begin in March when the 4% 2022 gilt matures; the Bank owns 
£25bn of this issuance. A pure roll-off of the £875bn gilt portfolio by not refinancing 
bonds as they mature, would see the holdings fall to about £415bn by 2031, which 
would be about equal to the Bank’s pre-pandemic holding. Last August, the Bank said 
it would not actively sell gilts until the “Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%” and, 
“depending on economic circumstances at the time.”  

 It is possible that Bank Rate will not rise above 1% as the MPC could shift to relying on 
quantitative tightening (QT) to do the further work of taking steam out of the economy 
and reducing inflationary pressures. 

 Increases in US treasury yields over the next few years could add upside pressure on 
gilt yields though, more recently, gilts have been much more correlated to movements 
in bund yields than treasury yields. 

 
 
MPC MEETING 4TH FEBRUARY 2022 

 After the Bank of England became the first major western central bank to put interest 
rates up in this upswing in December, it has quickly followed up its first 0.15% rise by 
another 0.25% rise to 0.50%, in the second of what is very likely to be a series of 
increases during 2022. 

 The Monetary Policy Committee voted by a majority of 5-4 to increase Bank Rate by 
25bps to 0.5% with the minority preferring to increase Bank Rate by 50bps to 0.75%. 
The Committee also voted unanimously for the following: - 

o to reduce the £875n stock of UK government bond purchases, financed by the 
issuance of central bank reserves, by ceasing to reinvest maturing assets.  

o to begin to reduce the £20bn stock of sterling non-financial investment-grade 
corporate bond purchases by ceasing to reinvest maturing assets and by a 
programme of corporate bond sales to be completed no earlier than towards 
the end of 2023. 

 The Bank again sharply increased its forecast for inflation – to now reach a peak of 
7.25% in April, well above its 2% target.  

 The Bank estimated that UK GDP rose by 1.1% in quarter 4 of 2021 but, because of 
the effect of Omicron, GDP would be flat in quarter 1, but with the economy recovering 
during February and March. Due to the hit to households’ real incomes from higher 
inflation, it revised down its GDP growth forecast for 2022 from 3.75% to 3.25%.  

 The Bank is concerned at how tight the labour market is with vacancies at near record 
levels and a general shortage of workers - who are in a very favourable position to 
increase earnings by changing job. 

 As in the December 2021 MPC meeting, the MPC was more concerned with combating 
inflation over the medium term than supporting economic growth in the short term. 
However, what was notable was the Bank’s forecast for inflation: based on the markets’ 
expectations that Bank Rate will rise to 1.50% by mid-2023, it forecast inflation to be 
only 1.6% in three years’ time.  In addition, if energy prices beyond the next six months 
fell as the futures market suggests, the Bank said CPI inflation in three years’ time 

Page 31



 

32 
 

would be even lower at 1.25%. With calculations of inflation, the key point to keep in 
mind is that it is the rate of change in prices – not the level – that matters.  Accordingly, 
even if oil and natural gas prices remain flat at their current elevated level, energy’s 
contribution to headline inflation will drop back over the course of this year. That means 
the current energy contribution to CPI inflation, of 2% to 3%, will gradually fade over 
the next year. 

 So the message to take away from the Bank’s forecast is that they do not expect Bank 
Rate to rise to 1.5% in order to hit their target of CPI inflation of 2%. The immediate 
issue is with four members having voted for a 0.50% increase in February, it would only 
take one member more for there to be another 0.25% increase at the March meeting. 
 

 The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate 
versus selling (quantitative tightening) holdings of bonds is as follows: - 

1. Raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most circumstances”. 
2. Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings. 
3. Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts. 
4. Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings. 

 
OUR FORECASTS 
 
a. Bank Rate 

 Covid remains a major potential downside threat as we are most likely to get further 
mutations. However, their severity and impact could vary widely, depending on vaccine 
effectiveness and how broadly it is administered. 

 If the UK invokes article 16 of the Brexit deal over the dislocation in trading 
arrangements with Northern Ireland, this has the potential to end up in a no-deal Brexit. 

 
In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, we expect 
to have to revise our forecasts again - in line with whatever the new news is. 

 
 

b. PWLB rates and gilt and treasury yields 
 

Gilt yields. Since the start of 2021, we have seen a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence 
PWLB rates. Our forecasts show little overall increase in gilt yields during the forecast period 
to March 2025 but there will doubtless be a lot of unpredictable volatility during this forecast 
period. 

    
While monetary policy in the UK will have a major impact on gilt yields, there is also a need to 
consider the potential impact that rising treasury yields in America could have on gilt yields.  
As an average since 2011, there has been a 75% correlation between movements in US 10-
year treasury yields and UK 10-year gilt yields. This is a significant UPWARD RISK exposure 
to our forecasts for medium to longer term PWLB rates. However, gilt yields and treasury yields 
do not always move in unison. 

 
US treasury yields.  During the first part of 2021, US President Biden’s, and the Democratic 
party’s, determination to push through a $1.9trn (equivalent to 8.8% of GDP) fiscal boost for 
the US economy as a recovery package from the Covid pandemic was what unsettled financial 
markets. This was in addition to the $900bn support package previously passed in December 
2020. Financial markets were alarmed that all this stimulus was happening at a time when: -  

 
1. A fast vaccination programme roll-out had enabled a rapid opening up of the economy 

during 2021. 

Page 32



 

33 
 

2. The economy was growing strongly during the first half of 2021 although it has 
weakened during the second half. 

3. It started from a position of little spare capacity due to less severe lockdown measures 
than in many other countries. 

4. And the Fed was still providing substantial stimulus through monthly QE purchases 
during 2021. 

 
It was not much of a surprise that a combination of these factors would eventually cause an 
excess of demand in the economy which generated strong inflationary pressures. This has 
eventually been recognised by the Fed at its recent December meeting with an aggressive 
response to damp inflation down during 2022 and 2023.  

 

 At its 3rd November Fed meeting, the Fed decided to make a start on tapering its 
$120bn per month of QE purchases so that they ended next June. However, at its 15th 
December meeting it doubled the pace of tapering so that they will end all purchases 
in February.  These purchases are currently acting as downward pressure on treasury 
yields and so it would be expected that treasury yields will rise over the taper period, 
all other things being equal.   
 

 It also forecast that it expected there would be three rate rises in 2022 of 0.25% from 
near zero currently, followed by three in 2023 and two in 2024.  This would take rates 
back above 2% to a neutral level for monetary policy. It also gave up on calling the 
sharp rise in inflation as being ‘transitory’.  
 

 At its 26th January meeting, the Fed became even more hawkish following inflation 
rising sharply even further. It indicated that rates would begin to rise very soon, i.e., it 
implied at its March meeting it would increase rates and start to run down its holdings 
of QE purchases. It also appears likely that the Fed could take action to force longer 
term treasury yields up by prioritising selling holdings of its longer bonds as yields at 
this end have been stubbornly low despite rising inflation risks.  The low level of longer 
dated yields is a particular concern for the Fed because it is a key channel through 
which tighter monetary policy is meant to transmit to broader financial conditions, 
particularly in the US where long rates are a key driver of household and corporate 
borrowing costs.  

 
There are also possible DOWNSIDE RISKS from the huge sums of cash that the UK populace 
have saved during the pandemic; when savings accounts earn little interest, it is likely that 
some of this cash mountain could end up being invested in bonds and so push up demand for 
bonds and support their prices i.e., this would help to keep their yields down. How this will 
interplay with the Bank of England eventually getting round to not reinvesting maturing gilts 
and then later selling gilts, will be interesting to monitor. 

 
 

Globally, our views are as follows: - 
 

 EU. The ECB joined with the Fed by announcing on 16th December that it will be 
reducing its QE purchases - by half from October 2022, i.e., it will still be providing 
significant stimulus via QE purchases during the first half of 2022.  The ECB did not 
change its rate at its 3rd February meeting, but it was clearly shocked by the increase 
in inflation to 5.1% in January. The President of the ECB, Christine Lagarde, hinted in 
the press conference after the meeting that the ECB may accelerate monetary 
tightening before long and she hinted that asset purchases could be reduced more 
quickly than implied by the previous guidance.  She also refused to reaffirm officials’ 
previous assessment that interest rate hikes in 2022 are “very unlikely”. It, therefore, 

Page 33



 

34 
 

now looks likely that all three major western central banks will be raising rates this year 
in the face of sharp increases in inflation - which is looking increasingly likely to be 
stubbornly high and for much longer than the previous oft repeated ‘transitory’ 
descriptions implied. 

 

 China. The pace of economic growth has now fallen back after the initial surge of 
recovery from the pandemic and China has been struggling to contain the spread of 
the Delta variant through using sharp local lockdowns - which depress economic 
growth. However, with Omicron having now spread to China, and being much more 
easily transmissible, lockdown strategies may not prove so successful in future. To 
boost flagging economic growth, The People’s Bank of China cut its key interest rate 
in December 2021. 

 

 Japan. 2021 was a patchy year in combating Covid. However, recent business surveys 
indicate that the economy is rebounding rapidly now that the bulk of the population is 
fully vaccinated, and new virus cases have plunged. The Bank of Japan is continuing 
its very loose monetary policy but with little prospect of getting inflation back towards 
its target of 2% any time soon. 

 

 World growth.  World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until 
starting to lose momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in 
gas and electricity prices, shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should 
subside during 2022. It is likely that we are heading into a period where there will be a 
reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of western countries from dependence 
on China to supply products, and vice versa. This is likely to reduce world growth rates 
from those in prior decades. 
 

 Supply shortages. The pandemic and extreme weather events, followed by a major 
surge in demand after lockdowns ended, have been highly disruptive of extended 
worldwide supply chains.  Major queues of ships unable to unload their goods at ports 
in New York, California and China built up rapidly during quarters 2 and 3 of 2021 but 
then halved during quarter 4. Such issues have led to a misdistribution of shipping 
containers around the world and have contributed to a huge increase in the cost of 
shipping. Combined with a shortage of semi-conductors, these issues have had a 
disruptive impact on production in many countries. The latest additional disruption has 
been a shortage of coal in China leading to power cuts focused primarily on producers 
(rather than consumers), i.e., this will further aggravate shortages in meeting demand 
for goods. Many western countries are also hitting up against a difficulty in filling job 
vacancies. It is expected that these issues will be gradually sorted out, but they are 
currently contributing to a spike upwards in inflation and shortages of materials and 
goods available to purchase.  

 
 

The balance of risks to the UK economy: - 

 The overall balance of risks to economic growth in the UK is now to the downside. 
 

Downside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates include: - 

 Mutations of the virus render current vaccines ineffective, and tweaked vaccines to 
combat these mutations are delayed or unable to be administered fast enough to stop 
the NHS being overwhelmed. 

 

 Labour and supply shortages prove more enduring and disruptive and depress 
economic activity. 

 

Page 34



 

35 
 

 Bank of England acts too quickly, or too far, over the next three years to raise Bank 
Rate and causes UK economic growth, and increases in inflation, to be weaker than 
we currently anticipate.  

 

 The Government acts too quickly to increase taxes and/or cut expenditure to balance 
the national budget. 

 

 UK / EU trade arrangements – if there was a major impact on trade flows and financial 
services due to complications or lack of co-operation in sorting out significant remaining 
issues.  

 

 Geopolitical risks, for example in Ukraine/Russia, Iran, China, North Korea and 
Middle Eastern countries, which could lead to increasing safe-haven flows. As Russia 
has invaded Ukraine, this has caused short term volatility in financial markets, and it is 
difficult to predict how this will impact the gilt market in the future. 
 

Upside risks to current forecasts for UK gilt yields and PWLB rates: - 

 The Bank of England is too slow in its pace and strength of increases in Bank Rate 
and, therefore, allows inflationary pressures to build up too strongly within the UK 
economy, which then necessitates a later rapid series of increases in Bank Rate faster 
than we currently expect.  

 

 Longer term US treasury yields rise strongly and pull gilt yields up higher than forecast. 
 

 Geopolitical risks for example in Ukraine could have the effected of increasing yields 
due to the concern of higher inflation. 

 

 
 
 
 
  

Page 35



 

36 
 

Appendix 4  

APPROVED COUNTRIES FOR INVESTMENTS 

This list is based on those countries which have sovereign ratings of AA- or higher, (we show 
the lowest rating from Fitch, Moody’s and S&P)  
 

Based on lowest available rating 
 

AAA                      

 Australia 

 Denmark 

 Germany 

 Luxembourg 

 Netherlands  

 Norway 

 Singapore 

 Sweden 

 Switzerland 

 

AA+ 

 Canada    

 Finland 

 U.S.A. 

 

AA 

 France 

 

AA- 

 Belgium 

 Hong Kong 

 Qatar 

 U.K. 

 

   

 
 

 

 

Page 36



 

37 
 

Appendix 5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT SCHEME OF DELEGATION 

(i) Full Council 

 receiving and reviewing reports on treasury management policies, practices and activities; 

 approval of annual strategy. 

 

(ii) Governance and Audit Committee 

 approval of/amendments to the organisation’s adopted clauses, treasury management 
policy statement and treasury management practices; 

 budget consideration and approval; 

 approval of the division of responsibilities; 

 receiving and reviewing regular monitoring reports and acting on recommendations; 

 approving the selection of external service providers and agreeing terms of appointment. 

 

(iii) Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 reviewing the treasury management policy and procedures and making recommendations 
to the responsible body. 

 

Page 37



 

38 
 

Appendix 6 THE TREASURY MANAGEMENT ROLE OF THE SECTION 151 OFFICER 

The S151 (responsible) officer  

 recommending clauses, treasury management policy/practices for approval, reviewing the 
same regularly, and monitoring compliance; 

 submitting regular treasury management policy reports; 

 submitting budgets and budget variations; 

 receiving and reviewing management information reports; 

 reviewing the performance of the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of treasury management resources and skills, and the effective 
division of responsibilities within the treasury management function; 

 ensuring the adequacy of internal audit, and liaising with external audit; 

 recommending the appointment of external service providers.  

 

The above list of specific responsibilities of the S151 officer in the 2017 Treasury 
Management Code has not changed.  However, implicit in the changes in both codes, is a 
major extension of the functions of this role, especially in respect of non-financial 
investments, (which CIPFA has defined as being part of treasury management). These 
include:  

 preparation of a capital strategy to include capital expenditure, capital financing, non-
financial investments and treasury management, with a long-term timeframe. 

 ensuring that the capital strategy is prudent, sustainable, affordable and prudent in the long 
term and provides value for money. 

 ensuring that due diligence has been carried out on all treasury and non-financial 
investments and is in accordance with the risk appetite of the Council. 

 ensure that the authority has appropriate legal powers to undertake expenditure on non-
financial assets and their financing. 

 ensuring the proportionality of all investments so that the authority does not undertake a 
level of investing which exposes the Council to an excessive level of risk compared to its 
financial resources. 

 ensuring that an adequate governance process is in place for the approval, monitoring and 
ongoing risk management of all non-financial investments and long term liabilities. 

 provision to members of a schedule of all non-treasury investments including material 
investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures, loans and financial guarantees.  

 ensuring that members are adequately informed and understand the risk exposures taken 
on by an authority. 

 ensuring that the authority has adequate expertise, either in house or externally provided, 
to carry out the above. 

 creation of Treasury Management Practices which specifically deal with how non treasury 
investments will be carried out and managed, to include the following - 

o Risk management (TMP1 and schedules), including investment and risk 
management criteria for any material non-treasury investment portfolios; 

  

o Performance measurement and management (TMP2 and schedules), including 
methodology and criteria for assessing the performance and success of non-
treasury investments;          

  

Page 38



 

39 
 

o Decision making, governance and organisation (TMP5 and schedules), 
including a statement of the governance requirements for decision making in 
relation to non-treasury investments; and arrangements to ensure that 
appropriate professional due diligence is carried out to support decision making; 

  

o Reporting and management information (TMP6 and schedules), including 
where and how often monitoring reports are taken; 

  

o Training and qualifications (TMP10 and schedules), including how the relevant 
knowledge and skills in relation to non-treasury investments will be arranged. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Report of the Director West Yorkshire Pension Fund to 
the meeting of Governance and Audit Committee to be 
held on 24 March 2022 
 
 
 

Subject:             AB 
 
Minutes of West Yorkshire Pension Fund (WYPF) Joint Advisory Group held 27 January 
2022 
 
 

Summary statement: 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations require the minutes of meeting of the WYPF Joint 
Advisory Group to be submitted to this committee. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

  
Rodney Barton 
Director 

Portfolio:   
 
Leader  
 

Report Contact:  Rodney Barton 
Phone: (01274) 432317 
E-mail: rodney.barton@bradford.gov.uk 

 Overview & Scrutiny Area:  
 
Corporate 

Page 41

Agenda Item 6/



1. SUMMARY 
 
The Council’s Financial Regulations require the minutes of meeting of the WYPF Joint 
Advisory Group to be submitted to this committee.  

 
 
 
2. APPENDICES 
 
Minutes of the Joint Advisory Group 27 January 2022.   
 
   

Page 42



 

10 
 

 
Minutes of a meeting of the West Yorkshire Pension 
Fund Joint Advisory Group held on Thursday, 27 
January 2022 at 1.30 pm in Council Chamber - City Hall, 
Bradford 
 

 
Commenced 1.50 pm 
Concluded 3.35 pm 

Present - Members of the Committee 
 
Bradford Members 
Councillors: 
Thornton  
Winnard 

Calderdale Members 
Councillors: 
Hutchinson  
Lynn 

Kirklees Members 
Councillors: 
Firth 
Ramsay 
Uppal 

Wakefield Members 
Councillors: 
Swift 

Scheme Members 
Mark Morris 

Trades Union Members 
Ms L Bailey (UNISON) 

 
 
16.   DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST 

 
All those present who were members or beneficiaries of the West Yorkshire 
Pension Fund disclosed, in the interests of transparency, an interest in all relevant 
business under consideration. 
 
Action: City Solicitor 
 

17.   MINUTES 
 
Resolved – 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 29 July 2021 be signed as a correct 
record. 
 
Action:  City Solicitor 
 

18.   INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
There were no appeals submitted by the public to review decisions to restrict 
documents. 
 

Page 43



11 
 

19.   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 
Members were asked to consider if the item relating to the Northern LGPS, 
(Document “K” containing Not for Publication Appendices 1 & 2) should be 
considered in the absence of the public. 
 
No resolution was passed on this item.  
 

20.   WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) AUDITED REPORT AND 
ACCOUNTS 31 MARCH 2021 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “K”) was 
submitted to the Group to provide Members with the annual audited report and 
accounts for 2020/21. 
 
Members were advised that the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 
2014, Regulation 57 specified that the deadline for publishing the WYPF audited 
account was 1st December each year. The WYPF accounts formed part of the 
City of Bradford Metropolitan District Council (CBMDC) accounts and as such 
WYPF accounts were signed by auditors as a bundle with the Bradford accounts. 
The WYPF accounts had been presented on time, however, the Bradford 
accounts were delayed, and signed by the auditors Mazars LLP on 22 December 
2021. WYPF Report and Accounts were signed on the same day, 21 December 
2021, and published on the WYPF website on 22 December 2021. That was 21 
days late, however, considering the current COVID-19 pandemic operating 
environment, the fund was still ahead of a number of LGPS funds in publishing 
the 2020/21 report and accounts.  
 
Resolved –  
 

1. That the Audited report and accounts for 2020/21 be noted. 
 

2. That the WYPF total cost per member of £33.63 and investment 
management costs of 3.15 basis point be noted. 

 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

21.   WYPF PENSION ADMIN AND OVERSIGHT BUDGET REPORT - 2021/22 
FORECAST AND 2022/23 BUDGET 
 
The Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund, presented a report (Document “L”) 
containing budget proposals, projections and pension administration costs for 
members and employers. 
 
The report revealed a favourable outturn figure against the predicted budget for 
2021/22 and continuing low costs to members.  Officers were congratulated for 
their impressive achievements. 
 
Increased accommodation costs were reported in Document “L” and the rationale 
for those increases and the likelihood of their continuation in the future was 
questioned. 
 

Page 44



12 
 

The Director explained that the fund, like every organisation, had seen a 
significant increase in fuel costs and a focus for the future would be in sourcing 
green energy.  It was reported that the building required regular maintenance and 
insurance costs had also risen.  Increases in rent had also occurred and although 
the fund owned the building it did pay itself a commercial rent.   
 
Clarification on the prediction that support services would increase was requested 
and it was explained that the increase in business from shared services required 
additional support services.   Increased regulation in investments and pension 
administration had also impacted on the support required. 
 
Members discussed recruitment figures contained in the report and questioned if 
exit interviews were conducted with staff who resigned and if so what had been 
learnt.   In response it was explained that a large proportion of staff leaving had 
retired and others had left for career progression.  It was explained that currently 
there were many opportunities in other pension funds and hybrid working had 
enabled people to take up positions in other parts of the country without the need 
to relocate.  The administration side of the fund had a good level of staff retention 
and the fund had one of the lowest staff turnover rates compared with others.  A 
Member requested the fund be flexible on salaries to ensure that senior and 
specialist roles would attract and retain the highest calibre of staff.  
 
The driver of increased investment management costs was queried and it was 
explained that these were because of challenges from increased regulations and 
an expanding asset base.  The report revealed that using basis points (bps) 
WYPF investment cost was between 3 and 5 bps of current investment asset 
value of £17.5 billion. Based on the Investment Association survey for 2021/22 
the average cost of investment management was 18bps, that was 300% more 
than WYPF. That measure put WYPF in the top quartile in terms of investment 
management cost of the best performing investment management organisations.   
 
To address competition in attracting talent to the fund engagement had been 
made with local universities; staff training had been provided and apprentice 
posts had been developed to create a talent pool in the local area.  
 
The impact of vacancies in the fund on service delivery was questioned and it 
was explained that staff were passionate about what they did and the quality of 
work had not suffered.  It was stressed that people were proud of their work but 
that if vacancies were not filled that would eventually have an impact on the 
service. A number of vacancies had recently been filled and whilst the fund 
carried out many initiatives which were recognised nationally there was a desire 
to do more. Members questioned if vacancies were artificially keeping costs low 
and it was explained that they made only a small difference. 
 
In response to questions about the impact of separate investments costs it was 
reported that the asset value was now £17.5 billion compared to £8 billion in 
2012-13.  There had been an increase in the value and diversity of markets 
together with increased legislation and regulation.  It was stressed that the fund 
employed specialist hard working staff but there is a need to create local talent to 
aid recruitment and maintain service performance standards.  
 
 

Page 45



13 
 

Resolved –  
 

1. That the projected outturn of £5.09m against budget of £5.41m for 
2021/22 be noted. 

 
2. That the proposed budget of £6.17m for 2022/23 be approved. 

 
3. That the WYPF total cost per member of £33.63 is the lowest LGPS 

cost per member, this is also supported by strong service 
performance and quality, be noted. 

 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

22.   BUSINESS PLAN 2022-2027 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “M”) 
informed Members of the development of a five-year business plan for the period 
2022-2027. 
 
It was explained that the fund was working with actuary firm Aon to develop a 
five-year business plan for the period 2022-2027 which would outline the Fund’s 
goals and objectives over the medium term. Once completed, the business plan 
would be formally reviewed and agreed every year.  
 
The purpose of the business plan was to – 
 

 Explain the objectives for the management of the WYPF. 
 Document the priorities and improvements to be implemented by the 

WYPF team during the next five years to help achieve those objectives. 
 Enable progress and performance to be monitored in relation to those 

priorities. 
 Provide staff, partners and customers with a clear vision for the next five 

years.  
 
The plan would present a number of key objectives under the categories of 
governance, funding, investments, administration and communications   
 
Recent developments and changes impacting the fund were reported and 
included the fund’s responsible investment approach; expansion of the fund’s 
external customer base and changes to how the pensions administration software 
was used. This included enhancement to monthly employer data collection and 
online member and employer services. 
 
It was explained that the business plan was at an early stage of production but 
would be brought to JAG at the July meeting to review. 
 
A Member reported difficulties in accessing the on line platform.  He was advised 
that a number of enhancements had been made and a web developer, with the 
experience to redesign the platform, had been employed. It was explained that 
the system had been an on off the shelf product and the web developer would 
tailor it to the requirements of the fund.  It was believed that issues had decreased 
significantly and improvements had been seen by members.  Recent incidents in 

Page 46



14 
 

accessing the service were discussed and the member who had raised those 
issues agreed to act as a test user to assess future progress.    
 
A Member referred to the West Yorkshire Mayor’s request for an annual report on 
divestment in fossil fuels and questioned if the fund would respond to that 
request; the cost of that report and when it would be provided. 
 
The Director, WYPF explained that the fund had a clear Environmental, Social 
and Governance (ESG) policy which was set by the Investment Advisory Panel 
which would be reporting regularly on the carbon footprint of the fund.  A report, 
produced by an independent firm, was about to the published and information 
provided to the West Yorkshire Mayor would be reported. 
 
Members were advised that the fund would not divest from commodities until it 
was evident that change could not be made.  The intention was to influence 
change in companies which were owned by the fund. The final step would be to 
divest if no progress was made.  The success of that approach was questioned 
and it was explained, as an example, that Shell was installing more car charging 
points than other companies.   Members were advised that the website set out 
more detailed information on influences made.  The speed of such impacts was 
queried and it was explained that this was the beginning of an exponential 
transition.  Things had moved slowly, however, increasing pressures were 
enforcing rapid change and external events beyond the control of companies 
were having an impact.  
 
It was questioned if the governance arrangements for the fund would change and 
a ‘Pensions Committee’ be created.  In response it was explained that the 
Pension Board had oversight of the fund whilst the Joint Advisory Group played a 
monitoring role. The legislation required the two roles to be kept separate.   
 
Resolved –  
 
That the report be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

23.   FUNDING STRATEGY STATEMENT 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund presented a report, 
Document “N”, which informed Members of proposed changes to the Funding 
Strategy Statement (FSS) following a review of how liabilities were calculated for 
non-tax-raising bodies whose liabilities became ‘orphan ‘on exit. 
 
It was explained that WYPF’s current approach, which it was understood was 
common in other Local Government Pension Scheme Funds, was to calculate the 
exit liabilities by reference to the yield on index-linked gilts. Whilst that approach 
had served the Fund well, over many years, it had been decided to ask Aon, the 
Fund’s actuary, to carry out a thorough review of that approach, prompted by two 
key factors - 
 

 The Fund did not believe that current index-linked gilt prices represented value for 
money, particularly given they had not really fallen following the announcement 

Page 47



15 
 

that RPI would be linked to CPIH from 2030 (which meant pay-outs from index-
linked gilts would fall because CPIH was lower than RPI by virtue of differences in 
how the two measures were calculated). Following discussions with the Fund 
Actuary it was therefore felt that it was appropriate to reconsider the approach of 
calculating orphan exit liabilities assuming they would be backed by index-linked 
gilts  
 

 The Fund was committed to maintaining a single investment strategy which 
applied to all employers and it wanted to explore if and how it could refine 
strategy such that a consistent methodology was used to calculate the funding 
target for all employers 
 
Proposed changes to WYPF approach and updates to the Funding Strategy 
Statement were reported in detail together with the results of a consultation 
exercise conducted on the changes between 30 November 2021 and 7 January 
2022. 
 
A Member questioned if the proposals provided an opportunity to recognise 
ethical investments and was advised that the appropriate document to consider 
was the Investment and Strategy Statement approved by the Investment Advisory 
Panel.  That statement and further information was available on the Fund’s 
website. 
 
Resolved - 

 
1. That the proposed change of approach to how liabilities will be 

calculated for non-tax raising bodies whose liabilities become 
‘orphan ‘on exit be approved. 

 
2. That the changes to the Funding Strategy Statement, contained in 

Document “N” be approved. 
  
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

24.   2022 ACTUARIAL VALUATION 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “O”) 
advised Members that the next triennial actuarial valuation of the Fud would be 
prepared based on the situation at 31 March 2022 and would determine the level 
of employers’ contributions from April 2023.   
 
The background to the report explained that the fund was subject to an actuarial 
valuation by its appointed consulting actuary and the main aims of that valuation 
were reported.  Members were advised that the Actuary would be providing a 
virtual training session on 8 February 2022 and it was hoped that this could be 
recorded and Members provided with copies. 
 
It was explained that the Government Actuary (GAD) had been appointed by the 
Department of Levelling up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) to report under 
Section 13 of the Pubic Service Pensions Act 2013 in connection with the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).  Section 13 of the Act required the 
Government Actuary to report on four main aims every three years and these 

Page 48



16 
 

were highlighted in the report. GAD’s report was published in late December 2021 
and the four recommendations were reported. 
 
Included in recommendation four was a ‘white’ flag in relation to GAD’s asset 
shock metric and Members asked for a definition of that status.  It was explained 
that this related to the size of the fund’s assets and the potential impact on local 
Councils. Members were assured that this was a general issue which did not 
require any action and there would have been an ‘amber’ flag if there had been 
broader concerns.  
 
A Member queried the acronym SAB and it was clarified that this referred to the 
Scheme Advisory Board.   
 
Resolved –  
 
That the report be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

25.   PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “P”) 
provided Members with an update on West Yorkshire Pension Fund’s (WYPF) 
pensions administration activities over the last six months.  The background to 
Document “P” reported that as well as providing pensions administration for 
WYPF scheme members, WYPF provided a full administration service to 
Lincolnshire Pension Fund, the London Borough of Hounslow and more recently 
the London Borough of Barnet and to 21 Fire Authorities. This included pensioner 
payroll (except for the London Borough of Hounslow), all member and scheme 
level events, reporting to statutory bodies, provision of data to external bodies 
such as actuaries, and local authorities for the production of the scheme 
accounts.    
 
Performance and benchmarking details contained in the report showed the 
performance against key areas of work for the period 1 July 2021 to 31 December 
2021and revealed that most key performance had been well met.  There was 
commentary on any which had not been achieved and mitigating reasons were 
provided.   
 
Work in progress, scheme information, praise and complaints, employer training, 
internal dispute resolution procedure and an administration update were included 
in the report.  Details of ISO 9001 Quality Audits; security breaches; member 
portal and awards were also summarised.   It was concluded that the fund 
continued to provide an efficient, cost effective and high level of service to 
members and employers within the fund. 
 
Members questioned why unrealistic targets were maintained in performance 
targets and it was explained that the fund did not wish to reduce Key Performance 
Indicators (KPI) to maintain the challenge.  It was felt that all were realistic when 
workloads and vacancies were addressed.  
 
 

Page 49



17 
 

It was queried if KPIs were maintained on the number of people accessing the 
member portal or if members were consulted on preferred methods of 
communication.  In response it was explained that the fund had begun to access 
that information from the CIVICA website and this would be reported.  
 
Members asked if staff surveys were conducted for the fund or if there was 
reliance on Bradford Council’s assessments.  It was suggested that feedback on 
morale, job satisfaction and challenges faced could help address recruitment 
issues.  It was confirmed that the Fund relied on the staff surveys conducted by 
Bradford Council but agreed there was no reason why a fund specific survey 
could not be carried out.  It was explained that a survey had been conducted at 
the start of the pandemic to ascertain the level of support and equipment staff 
required.  
 
It was reported that a hybrid method of working would be in place allowing staff to 
work both remotely and in the office and work was required to conduct a more up 
to date assessment of needs.  The biggest issue faced during the restructure of 
the Fund had been pay and grades.  
 
A definition of the acronym DPO was requested and it was clarified that this 
referred to Data Protection Officer.  Reference to ICO was explained as relating to 
Information Commissioner’s Office.  It was confirmed that the Fund did employ a 
DPO. 
 
It was questioned if the fund had any plans to provide shared services to all fire 
authorities and it was explained that this was not intended.  It was explained that 
small fire authorities were attracted to the fund as it had the necessary expertise 
and that the complexity of the scheme was often not cost effective for those 
authorities.       
 
Resolved –  
 
That the report be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

26.   SHARED SERVICE PARTNERSHIP UPDATE 
 
The Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund presented a report,  
Document “Q” which provided an update to Members of the Group on current 
administration issues and performance for WYPF’s Shared Service Partnership. 
 
Document “Q” reminded Members that the Fund provided shared service pension 
administration to Lincolnshire, London Borough of Hounslow and London 
Borough of Barnet Pension Funds and 21 fire authorities.  
 
Updates on each of the services were appended to the report.  
 
It was concluded that the fund provided an efficient and cost effective shared 
service to both the Local Government and Fire Scheme partners.  In particular, 
WYPF was recognised for the high standards of service not only to the members 
of the schemes but also to the administrators who valued the expert knowledge 

Page 50



18 
 

and guidance provided to them.  WYPF was regularly approached for discussion 
and engagement on possible additional business.    
 
Resolved –  
 
That the report be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

27.   LOCAL GOVERNMENT PENSION SCHEME REGULATIONS UPDATE 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “R”) 
updated Members on changes to the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
2014 and provided information on associated matters. 
 
In addition to regular items reported to Members information on the publication of 
SF3 data for 2020 to 2021; the Section 13 report; the Pension Schemes Act 2021; 
Money and Pensions Service – Pensions Dashboard update; the Pensions 
Regulator consultation on a new Code of Practice and the Second Review of 
State Pension Age were provided in Document “R”. 
 
Resolved –  
 
That the report be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

28.   REGISTER OF BREACHES OF LAW 
 
The Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund presented Document “S” which 
informed Members of entries on the 2021/22 Register of Breaches. The breaches 
register was appended to the report.  Included in the register were four breaches 
relating to – 
 

 the late payment of employee’s pension contributions by employers, 
 delay in making a transfer out payment to a new pension provider, 
 the non-issue of Annual Benefit Statements by the 31 August 2021 to a small 

number of active members. 
 delays in settlement amounts paid to the Fund by Prudential when members have 

retired. (details of this breaches and copy of the submission to the Pension 
Regulator reporting this breach were supplied to the July 2021 JAG meeting. 
 
The delays in settlement amounts by Prudential had been deemed to be of 
material significance and had been reported to the Pensions Regulator.   
 
Resolved – 
 
That the entries on the Register of Breaches be noted. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 
 

Page 51



19 
 

29.   PENSIONS ADMINISTRATION STRATEGY AND COMMUNICATIONS POLICY 
2022/23 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “T”) asked 
Members to review and approve the Pensions Administration Strategy and 
Communications Policy 2022/21. It was explained that there had been no 
significant change to either policy, however, the they had been updated to reflect 
planned activity in the next year. 
 
Resolved –  
 
That the Pension Strategy and the Communications Policy 2022/23 be 
approved. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

30.   TRAINING, CONFERENCES AND SEMINARS 
 
The report of the Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund (Document “U”) 
provided Members with details of training courses, conferences and seminars 
which may assist them to demonstrate that they had the necessary knowledge to 
carry out their roles effectively. 
 
It was stressed that there was a growing need for LGPS funds to demonstrate 
that their committees and board members had an adequate level of knowledge to 
carry out their roles effectively. With the upcoming introduction of a refreshed 
CIPFA Knowledge & Skills Framework, the Scheme Advisory Board’s Good 
Governance project (England and Wales), and increasing scrutiny from The 
Pensions Regulator, the expectation on funds had never been greater. 
 
Members were advised that the fund was developing a training plan for each JAG 
member to ensure training requirements were met and would maintain training 
records against the training plan. That information would be published in the 
Annual Report or the Governance Compliance Statement. 
 
It was explained that WYPF had signed up to an online LGPS Learning Academy 
launched by Hymans to support training needs for Pension Committee members, 
Pension Board members and Pension Officers. Covering the key elements of the 
CIPFA knowledge and skills framework and TPR Code of Practice, bite-sized 
training videos would supplement all LGPS funds’ training plans. Along with the 
core video support there would be jargon busters and quizzes. Hot topics such as 
McCloud would be covered, and the Fund would continually look to update 
content with the most relevant issues affecting the LGPS.   
 
The new online course aimed to make it easier for members to obtain the 
knowledge they require, in a more efficient and engaging way. It would cover all 
the key areas required in order to successfully manage the running of a fund, 
including – 
 
 

 an introduction to LGPS oversight bodies, governance, legislation and 
guidance 

Page 52



20 
 

 LGPS administration, including policies and procedures, pension fund 
auditing 

 LGPS valuations, funding strategy and LGPS employers 
 Investment strategy, pooling and responsible investment 
 Performance monitoring and procurement 
 Current issues in the LGPS 

 
It was explained that if any Member would like some specific training through one 
to one meetings with the in-house team, then that could be arranged.     
 
Resolved –  
 
That Members note the requirements for their knowledge and 
understanding to be up to the required standard. 
 
ACTION: Director, West Yorkshire Pension Fund 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chair 
 

 
Note: These minutes are subject to approval as a correct record at the next meeting 
of the West Yorkshire Pension Fund Joint Advisory Group. 
 
 
 
THIS AGENDA AND ACCOMPANYING DOCUMENTS HAVE BEEN PRODUCED, WHEREVER POSSIBLE, ON RECYCLED PAPER 
 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY 2022-23
	6 MINUTES OF WEST YORKSHIRE PENSION FUND (WYPF) JOINT ADVISORY GROUP HELD ON 27 JANUARY 2022
	Document "AB"


